
TO THE CHAIRMAN AND MEMBERS OF THE 
EXECUTIVE

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Executive to be held on Thursday, 18 
January 2018 at 7.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Civic Offices, Gloucester Square, Woking, 
Surrey GU21 6YL.

Please note the meeting will be filmed and will be broadcast live and subsequently as an archive 
on the Council’s website (www.woking.gov.uk).  The images and sound recording will also be used 
for training purposes within the Council.  Generally, the public seating areas are not filmed. 
However, by entering the meeting room and using the public seating area, you are consenting to 
being filmed.
The Chairman of the meeting has the discretion to terminate or suspend filming, if in his/her 
opinion continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the meeting or, on advice, 
considers that continued filming might infringe the rights of any individual.
As cameras are linked to the microphones, could Members ensure they switch their microphones 
on before they start to speak and off when finished and do not remove the cards which are in the 
microphones.

The agenda for the meeting is set out below.

RAY MORGAN
Chief Executive

AGENDA
PART I - PRESS AND PUBLIC PRESENT

1. Minutes 
To approve the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 14 December 2017 as 
published.

2. Urgent Business 
To consider any business that the Chairman rules may be dealt with under Section 100B(4) 
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Public Document Pack



3. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary and other interest from Members in respect 
of any item to be considered at the meeting.
In accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, the Leader of the Council, Councillor D J 
Bittleston, Councillor Mrs B A Hunwicks and Councillor C S Kemp have declared a non-
pecuniary interest in Agenda Items 6 and 9 arising from their positions as Directors of the 
Thameswey Group of Companies.
In accordance with Officer Procedure Rules, the Chief Executive, Ray Morgan, the Deputy 
Chief Executive, Douglas Spinks, Strategic Director, Sue Barham and Head of Democratic 
and Legal Services, Peter Bryant, have declared an interest in Agenda Items 6 and 9 arising 
from their positions as Directors of the Thameswey Group of Companies.
In accordance with Officer Procedure Rules, the Chief Executive, Ray Morgan, has declared 
an interest in Agenda Item 9 arising from his position as a Director of Victoria Square Woking 
Limited.
In accordance with Officer Procedure Rules, the Deputy Chief Executive, Douglas Spinks, 
and Head of Democratic and Legal Services, Peter Bryant, have declared an interest in 
Agenda Item 9 arising from their positions as Directors of Woking Necropolis and 
Mausoleum Limited, Brookwood Park Limited and Brookwood Cemetery Limited.
In accordance with Officer Procedure Rules, the Chief Executive, Ray Morgan, and the 
Deputy Chief Executive, Douglas Spinks, have declared an interest in Agenda Item 9 arising 
from their positions as Directors of Export House Limited.

Questions

4. To deal with any written questions submitted under Section 3 of the Executive Procedure 
Rules.  Copies of the questions and draft replies will be laid upon the table. 

Notices of Motion

At its meeting on 7 December 2017, the Council referred the following Notices of Motion to the 
Executive for consideration.
5. Notice of Motion - Cllr W P Forster - Support for Care Leavers (Pages 5 - 8)
6. Notice of Motion - Cllr K Howard - Roadside Litter (Pages 5 – 8)

Matters for Recommendation

7. Protocols of the Thameswey Group of Companies (Pages 9 - 44)
Reporting Person – Ray Morgan

8. Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) Policy for Fly Tipping Offences (Pages 45 - 54)
Reporting Person – Douglas Spinks

Matters for Determination

9. Parking for the Faith Community and Community Groups (Pages 55 - 126)
Reporting Person – Peter Bryant



Performance Management

10. Performance and Financial Monitoring Information 
Please bring to the meeting your copy of the Performance and Financial Monitoring 
Information (Green Book) November 2017.

AGENDA ENDS

Date Published - 10 January 2018

For further information regarding this agenda and 
arrangements for the meeting, please contact Julie 
Northcote on 01483 743053 or email 
julie.northcote@woking.gov.uk





 

 
1 

Agenda Item No. 5 
 
EXECUTIVE - 18 JANUARY 2018 

NOTICES OF MOTION 

Executive Summary 

At its meeting on 7 December 2017, the Council referred the following Notices of Motion to the 
Executive. 
 
Councillor W P Forster 
 
“Care leavers have had their childhoods punctuated by instability and trauma, they leave home 
earlier and have less support than other young people.  As a result, care leavers have some of 
the worse life chances in the country. 
 
A 2016 report by the Children's Society found that when care leavers move into independent 
accommodation, they find managing their own finances extremely challenging.  With no family 
to support them and insufficient financial education, care leavers are falling into debt and 
financial difficulty.  The Children's Society recommends that care leavers should be taken out of 
Council Tax until they turn 25. 
 
The Children and Social Work Act 2017 places corporate parenting responsibilities on borough 
and district councils for the first time, requiring them to have regard to children in care and care 
leavers when carrying out their functions. 
 
To ensure that transition from care to adult life is as smooth as possible and to mitigate the 
chances of care leavers falling into debt as they begin to manage their own finances, this 
Council agrees not to charge care leavers under 25 living in Woking Borough any Council Tax 
from April 2018. 
 
This Council also agrees to look at ways of supporting care leavers further to ensure they fulfil 
their potential.” 
 
Officer Comment 
 
 “A person who is liable to pay Council Tax has the right to apply to the Council for a reduction 
in the amount of Council Tax due to be paid. Usually discount is available via statutory 
schemes for payers on low incomes or discount schemes and personal exemptions. Therefore 
when considering a “local” discount/exemption for care leavers existing statutory reductions 
should be applied first as these will be funded through the statutory scheme. 
 
If after considering statutory schemes a charge is still payable, by a care leaver, then under 
Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 there is a general discretionary power 
to go further with discount in specific cases. This would be Discretionary Local scheme 
discount funded by Woking Borough Council. 
 
A Section 13A application form would be required to be completed for each application and 
these could be determined by a senior officer within the Council Tax section in accordance with 
the determined policy. While the award is entirely discretionary with no appeal process, it is 
good practice that any disputed decisions are referred to another officer for review and a final 
decision. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5.



Notices of Motion 

2 

In relation to the scheme/policy itself it would seem sensible to mirror the statutory scheme for 
full time students.  
 
In that: 
 

1. If the chargeable property occupied solely by a care leaver then after any statutory 
discounts have been applied the remaining charge is remitted using the powers under 
Section 13A. 

2. If the property is occupied by 2 adults, one of which is a care leaver, then the care leaver 
is treated as disregarded (i.e. as though not there) which would normally result in a 25% 
discount on the charge. 

3. If the property is occupied by more than 2 adults, one of which is a care leaver, then the 
care leaver is treated as disregarded (i.e. as though not there) which would have no 
affect on reducing the charge as there are still 2 non discounts adults. 

 
Finally, the Council Tax data base holds no data on care leavers, in order to apply any 
discounts the names, address, dates of birth, etc. would need to be supplied to the Council Tax 
section in order that applications can be sent.  This would need to comply with data protection 
rules, particularly the changes being introduced in May 2018 under the General Data Protection 
Regulation.” 
 
 
Councillor K Howard 
 
“With a view to finding a solution to the ongoing problem of roadside litter, officers will 
investigate and recommend ways in which the Council can target people who throw litter from 
vehicles on the public highway.” 
 
Officer Comment 
 
“Officers will continue to be proactive in tackling the anti social practice of throwing litter from 
vehicles on to the public highway where the offence is witnessed. 
 
Following a public consultation as part of the launch of the Government’s Litter Strategy in April 
2017 new powers are expected to be available for Local Authorities from April 2018 to include 
the below:- 
 

 from April, the maximum on-the-spot fine local authorities can issue for dropping litter will 
nearly double, from £80 to £150.  The minimum fine will increase from £50 to £65, while 
the default fine will increase from £75 to £100; and 

 for the first time, local authorities will also be able to apply these penalties for littering to 
vehicle owners if it can be proved litter was thrown from their car – even if it was 
discarded by somebody else. 

 
Once the new powers are confirmed the opportunity will be taken to promote the topic and the 
Council’s intention to proactively enforce hot spots around the Borough to protect our local 
environment.  A report on the new powers will be brought to a future meeting of the Executive.” 
 

 

 

 

Page 6



Notices of Motion 

3 

Background Papers: 

None. 
 
Reporting Person: 

Cllr Will Forster 
E Mail: CllrWill.Forster@woking.gov.uk 
 
Cllr Ken Howard 
E Mail: CllrKen.Howard@woking.gov.uk 
 
Douglas Spinks, Deputy Chief Executive 
Ext. 3440, E Mail: Douglas.Spinks@woking.gov.uk 
 
Leigh Clarke, Finance Director 
Ext. 3277, E Mail: Leigh.Clarke@woking.gov.uk 
 
Contact Person: 

Cllr Will Forster 
E Mail: CllrWill.Forster@woking.gov.uk 
 
Cllr Ken Howard 
E Mail: CllrKen.Howard@woking.gov.uk 
 
Geoff McManus, Assistant Director (Place) 
Ext. 3707, E Mail: Geoff.McManus@woking.gov.uk 
 
David Ripley, Revenues and Benefits Manager 
Ext. 3630, E Mail: David.Ripley@woking.gov.uk 
 
Portfolio Holder: 

Cllr Ayesha Azad 
E Mail: CllrAyesha.Azad@woking.gov.uk 
 
Cllr Beryl Hunwicks 
E Mail: CllrBeryl.Hunwicks@woking.gov.uk 
 
Shadow Portfolio Holder:  

Cllr Ann-Marie Barker 
E Mail: CllrAnn-Marie.Barker@woking.gov.uk 
 
Cllr Ken Howard 
E Mail: CllrKen.Howard@woking.gov.uk 
 

Date Published: 

10 January 2018 

Page 7





 

EXE17-083 
1 

Agenda Item No. 6 
 
EXECUTIVE - 18 JANUARY 2018 

PROTOCOLS OF THE THAMESWEY GROUP OF COMPANIES 

Executive Summary 

This report considers changes to the protocols for the Thameswey Group of Companies 
proposed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 27 November 2017. 

Reasons for Decision 

To consider the recommendation from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Recommendations 

The Executive is requested to: 

RECOMMEND to Council That  

the revised Protocols of the Thameswey Group of Companies, as set out in 
Appendix 2 to the report, be adopted. 

 

This item will need to be dealt with by way of a recommendation to the 
Council. 

 

Background Papers: 

None. 
 
Sustainability Impact Assessment 
Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
Reporting Person: 

Ray Morgan, Chief Executive 
Ext. 3333, E Mail: ray.morgan@woking.gov.uk 
 
Contact Person: 

Ray Morgan, Chief Executive 
Ext. 3333, E Mail: ray.morgan@woking.gov.uk 
 
Portfolio Holder: 

Cllr David Bittleston 
E Mail: CllrDavid.Bittleston@woking.gov.uk 
 
Shadow Portfolio Holder:  

Cllr Ian Johnson 
E Mail: CllrIan.Johnson@woking.gov.uk 
 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 7.



Protocols of the Thameswey Group of Companies 

2 

Date Published: 

10 January 2018 

Page 10



Protocols of the Thameswey Group of Companies 

3 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 At the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 24 July 2017, Councillor 
Kingsbury proposed that a review should be undertaken of the protocols for the 
Thameswey Group of Companies which had been adopted over six years earlier. 

1.2 The Members of the Committee supported the proposal and Councillor Kingsbury, 
together with Councillor Johnson, Chairman of the Committee, undertook to review the 
protocols.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting on 27 November 2017, 
received a report which set out the changes proposed by Councillor Kingsbury and 
Councillor Johnson.  The Committee agreed to recommend the proposed changes to the 
Executive. 

2.0 Present Position 

2.1 In reporting the recommendation of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to the 
Executive, one further change is proposed to the protocols.  

2.2 Paragraph 18 a) of the protocols deals with communication between Thameswey and 
Council Committees/Councillors. It provides that Thameswey will adopt the same Part 1 
and Part 2 arrangements that the Council operates. This is inconsistent with the 
requirement that Thameswey’s Board papers will only be provided to Members who have 
signed a Non Disclosure Agreement and won’t, as stated in paragraph 22 of the protocols, 
normally be published.  It is, therefore, proposed to delete the reference to Part 1/Part 2 
arrangements from paragraph 18 a) of the protocols. 

2.3 If the revised protocols are adopted by Council, the Articles of Association for each 
Thameswey company will be reviewed to ensure consistency with the protocols. 

2.4 Attached to this report is a copy of the existing protocols with proposed amendments 
highlighted throughout (Appendix 1) and a copy of the protocols with the proposed 
amendments incorporated into the text (Appendix 2).  An extract from the minutes of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee is attached at Appendix 3. 

3.0 Implications 

 Financial 

3.1 None. 

 Human Resource/Training and Development 

3.2 None. 

 Community Safety 

3.3 None. 

 Risk Management 

3.4 None. 

 Sustainability 

3.5 None. 

Page 11



Protocols of the Thameswey Group of Companies 

4 

 Equalities 

3.6 None. 

4.0 Consultations 

4.1 As set out in this report. 

REPORT ENDS 
 
EXE17-083 
 
 

 

Page 12



Protocols of the Thameswey Group of Companies 

5 

APPENDICES 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

 
6 

Equality Impact Assessment 

 
The purpose of this assessment is to improve the work of the Council by making sure that it does not discriminate against any individual or 
group and that, where possible, it promotes equality. The Council has a legal duty to comply with equalities legislation and this template 
enables you to consider the impact (positive or negative) a strategy, policy, project or service may have upon the protected groups.  

 

 

Positive impact? 

Negative 
impact? 

 
 
 

No 
specific 
impact 

What will the impact be? If the impact is negative how can 
it be mitigated? (action) 

THIS SECTION NEEDS TO BE COMPLETED AS EVIDENCE 
OF WHAT THE POSITIVE IMPACT IS OR WHAT ACTIONS 

ARE BEING TAKEN TO MITIGATE ANY NEGATIVE 
IMPACTS 

E
lim

in
a
te

 

d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o

n
 

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
 

e
q
u
a

lit
y
 

G
o
o
d
 

re
la

ti
o
n
s
 

Gender 
Men     X  

Women     X  

Gender Reassignment     X  

Race 

White     X  

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups      X  

Asian/Asian British     X  

Black/African/Caribbean/ 
Black British 

    X  

Gypsies / travellers     X  

Other ethnic group     X  

 

P
age 14



 

7 

 

 

Positive impact? 

Negative 
impact? 

 
 
 

No 
specific 
impact 

What will the impact be? If the impact is negative how can 
it be mitigated? (action) 

THIS SECTION NEEDS TO BE COMPLETED AS EVIDENCE 
OF WHAT THE POSITIVE IMPACT IS OR WHAT ACTIONS 

ARE BEING TAKEN TO MITIGATE ANY NEGATIVE 
IMPACTS 

E
lim

in
a
te

 

d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o

n
 

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
 

e
q
u
a

lit
y
 

G
o
o
d
 

re
la

ti
o
n
s
 

Disability 

Physical     X  

Sensory     X  

Learning Difficulties     X  

Mental Health     X  

Sexual 
Orientation 

Lesbian, gay men, bisexual     X  

Age 
Older people (50+)     X  

Younger people (16 - 25)     X  

Religion or 
Belief  

Faith Groups     X  

Pregnancy & maternity   X  

Marriage & Civil Partnership   X  

Socio-economic Background   X  

 
The purpose of the Equality Impact Assessment is to improve the work of the Council by making sure it does not discriminate against any 
individual or group and that, where possible, it promotes equality. The assessment is quick and straightforward to undertake but it is an 
important step to make sure that individuals and teams think carefully about the likely impact of their work on people in Woking and take action 
to improve strategies, policies, services and projects, where appropriate.  Further details and guidance on completing the form are available. 

P
age 15

file://///wbc-fp-1/corp$/Shikari%20Supporting%20Documents/Impact%20Assessments/Master/Equality%20Impact%20Assessment%20Guidance.doc


 

8 

Sustainability Impact Assessment 
 
Officers preparing a committee report are required to complete a Sustainability Impact Assessment.  Sustainability is one of the Council’s 
‘cross-cutting themes’ and the Council has made a corporate commitment to address the social, economic and environmental effects of 
activities across Business Units. The purpose of this Impact Assessment is to record any positive or negative impacts this decision, project or 
programme is likely to have on each of the Council’s Sustainability Themes.  For assistance with completing the Impact Assessment, please 
refer to the instructions below.  Further details and guidance on completing the form are available. 
 
 

Theme (Potential impacts of the project) 
Positive 
Impact 

Negative 
Impact 

No specific 
impact 

What will the impact be?  If the impact is 
negative, how can it be mitigated? (action) 

Use of energy, water, minerals and materials   X  

Waste generation / sustainable waste management   X  

Pollution to air, land and water   X  

Factors that contribute to Climate Change   X  

Protection of and access to the natural environment   X  

Travel choices that do not rely on the car   X  

A strong, diverse and sustainable local economy   X  

Meet local needs locally   X  

Opportunities for education and information   X  

Provision of appropriate and sustainable housing   X  

Personal safety and reduced fear of crime   X  

Equality in health and good health   X  

Access to cultural and leisure facilities   X  

Social inclusion / engage and consult communities   X  

Equal opportunities for the whole community   X  

Contribute to Woking’s pride of place   X  

 

P
age 16

file://///wbc-fp-1/corp$/Shikari%20Supporting%20Documents/Sustainability%20Impact%20Assessments/Master/Sustainability%20Impact%20Assessment%20Guidance.doc


2 6  N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 4                        P a g e  |  1  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

Appendix 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Thameswey Group Protocols 

Page 17



2 6  N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 4                        P a g e  |  2  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

Contents 

1. Protocol Group .................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 3 

3. Financial reporting and records ........................................................................................... 3 

4. Performance and Financial Monitoring Information ............................................................. 4 

5. Suggested Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for all Thameswey companies .................... 4 

6. Political non-alignment ........................................................................................................ 4 

7. Cooperation between Thameswey companies .................................................................... 5 

8. Public representation of the company and the group .......................................................... 5 

9. Third party representation ................................................................................................... 5 

10. Use of the Thameswey brand ............................................................................................. 5 

11. Protecting company assets ................................................................................................. 6 

12. Group policies ..................................................................................................................... 6 

13. Intra Group Communications .............................................................................................. 6 

14. The Shareholder ................................................................................................................. 6 

15. Corporate citizenship .......................................................................................................... 6 

16. Conduct .............................................................................................................................. 6 

17. Concurrent employment ...................................................................................................... 8 

18. Communication by Thameswey with Council committees and Councillors .......................... 8 

19. Board Governance .............................................................................................................. 9 

20. Composition of the Boards .................................................................................................10 

21. Group Company Boards ....................................................................................................12 

22. Listing of Group Companies .........................................................................................12 

23. Website communication ...............................................................................................12 

Page 18



2 6  N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 4                        P a g e  |  3  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

 

 

 

Protocol Group 

Thameswey Group Protocols 

1. Protocol Group 
At the Thameswey Ltd Board meeting held 15th February 2011 the Chairman explained that he 

felt the Thameswey Limited Board should have more information on all subsidiary companies 

activitiesThe Thameswey Group Protocol has been introduced in order to ensure good 

governance and management of the Thameswey Group of Companies. It has been agreed and 

is reviewed by was agreed that a Working Group was the best way to create protocols for this 

purpose. Board Members were encouraged to send any suggestions for consideration to Barry 

Maunders. Members of the Working Group were Steve Bonsor, Cllr John Kingsbury, Barry 

Maunders and John Thorp. It is suggested that the Protocol Group meet annually to review the 

operation of the protocols as part of the business plan approval processappointed by the the 

Council in its role as Group Shareholder.  

2. Introduction 
The Thameswey Group of companies (“Company” or “Group”) focuses on the development and 

management of projects that increase the use of sustainable energy, tackle fuel poverty, reduce 

water waste and encourage green transport both inside and outside the Borough of Woking, 

provide affordable homes and develop land and property in support of the Council’s strategies. 

The Thameswey Group is committed to benefiting the sustainable economic development of the 

Borough of Woking. 

To the extent permitted by law, no Thameswey company shall undertake any project or activity 

to the detriment of the Woking Borough Council (“Council” or “WBC”) or the wider interests of 

the communities which it serves. 

3. Financial reporting and records 
Thameswey prepares and maintains its accounts in accordance with the accounting and 

financial reporting standards which represent the generally accepted guidelines, principles, 

standards, laws and regulations of the UK. Thameswey’s management practices and business 

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Page 19



2 6  N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 4                        P a g e  |  4  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

conduct benefit the localities and communities in which it operates, to the extent possible and 

affordable, and are in accordance with the agreed strategies of the Council. 

Internal accounting and audit procedures reflect all of the company’s business transactions and 

disposition of assets, and has internal controls to provide assurance to the company’s board, 

shareholders and stakeholders that the transactions are accurate and legitimate. All required 

information is accessible to company auditors and other authorised parties and the Council.  

Thameswey operates under a system of delegated authority which is reviewed annually toot 

ensure it remains relevant and fit for purpose. 

There are no willful omissions of any company transactions from the books and records, no 

advance-income recognition and no hidden bank account and funds. 

4. Performance and Financial Monitoring Information 
The Thameswey Group has been organised and resourced to prepare full financial activity 

reports as part of the statutory accounts and at Board meetings (currently 3 times a year). 

quarterly, but with theKey information, set out in (5) below is to be prepared for inclusion in the 

Council’s Green Book on a monthly basis. Board meetings are held quarterly and WBC settles 

accounts with Thameswey Housing Limited and Thameswey Developments Limited on a 

quarterly basis. It is therefore proposed that the Thameswey Group continue reporting primarily 

on a quarterly basis. The Thameswey Limited also provides a Mmonthly performance report to 

all Boards setting out key financial standing of the company and its subsidiaries, recent activity 

and key performance indicators. This monthly report is regularly reviewed by the Thameswey 

Limited Board. 

5. Suggested Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for all 

Thameswey companies  
With comparisons to approved budget: 

i. New lending  

ii. Loan and Interest Payments 

iii. Sales  

iv. Capital Expenditure  

v. Employee numbers 

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Page 20



2 6  N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 4                        P a g e  |  5  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

6. Political non-alignment 
Subject to all applicable legal obligations, Thameswey is committed to supporting the 

constitution and governance systems of the Council. Thameswey does not support any specific 

political party or candidate for political office. The company’s conduct precludes any activity that 

could be interpreted as mutual dependence / favour with any political body or person, and does 

not offer or give any company funds or property as donations to any political party, candidate or 

campaign. 

 

7. Cooperation between Thameswey companies 
Thameswey companies cooperate with other Thameswey group companies including applicable 

joint ventures, by sharing knowledge and physical, human and management resources. 

In the procurement of products and services, a Thameswey company gives preference to other 

Thameswey companies, subject to relevant EU procurement rules, and as long as they can 

provide these on competitive terms relative to third parties. 

8. Public representation of the company and the group 
The Thameswey group, in all its public appearances (with respect to disclosing company and 

business information to public, constituencies such as the media, the financial community, 

employees and shareholders), may be represented by any director and/or specified employee 

as approved from time to time by the respective company board.  

9. Third party representation 
Parties which have business dealings with the Thameswey group but are not members of the 

group, such as consultants, contractors and suppliers, are not authorised to represent a 

Thameswey company without the written permission of the Thameswey Limited board. 

Third parties and their employees are expected to abide by the Group code of conduct in their 

interaction with, and on behalf of, a Thameswey company. Thameswey companies are 

encouraged to sign a non-disclosure agreement with third parties to support confidentiality of 

information. 

10. Use of the Thameswey brand 
The use of the Thameswey name and trademark shall be governed by manuals and 

agreements issued by Thameswey. No third party or joint venture shall use the Thameswey 

Page 21



2 6  N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 4                        P a g e  |  6  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

brand to further its interests without specific authorisation from the board of Thameswey Limited 

or its authorised officer.  

We will ensure that everyone working on our projects uses our The brand should be consistently 

used in all published material and communications. An administrator will be tasked to oversee 

the use of the brand identity to ensure consistency and training will be arranged if needed. Any 

new staff will be offered a short induction session on correct use.  

 

11. Protecting company assets  
The assets of a Thameswey company shall not be misused; they shall be employed judiciously 

for the purpose of conducting the business for which they are duly authorised. These include 

tangible assets such as equipment and machinery, systems, facilities, materials and resources, 

as well as intangible assets such as information technology and systems, proprietary 

information, intellectual property, and relationships with customers and suppliers. 

12. Group Policies 
The shareholders of each Thameswey company shall recommend its board of directors adopt 

the policies and guidelines periodically formulated by the Thameswey Limited board. 

Thameswey Limited operates and has approved a scheme of delegation which empowers 

officers of the group to make operational decisions, including committing to contracts and 

expenditure, within prescribed limits.  

13. Intra Group Communications 
Members of the board of Thameswey Ltd. will receive agendas, minutes and reports from each 

of its subsidiary’s board meetings, as soon as they become available. In order to accommodate 

this, a gap of at least 10 working days between meetings of all subsidiary boards and the 

subsequent Thameswey Limited board meeting in the same cycle, should be arranged.  

14. The Shareholders 
Thameswey Limited and its subsidiaries shall be committed to enhancing shareholder value and 

complying with all regulations and laws that govern shareholder rights. The board of directors of 

a Thameswey company shall inform its shareholders about all relevant aspects of the 

company’s business. 

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Page 22



2 6  N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 4                        P a g e  |  7  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

15. Corporate citizenship 
A Thameswey company shall be committed to good corporate citizenship, not only in the 

compliance of all relevant laws and regulations but also by actively assisting in the improvement 

of quality of life of the people in the communities in which it operates. The company shall 

encourage collaboration with community groups. 

A Thameswey company shall not treat these activities as optional, but should strive to 

incorporate them as an integral part of its business plan. 

16. Conduct 
Thameswey supports the following principles of public life and the culture of the business is one 

of honesty and opposition to fraud and corruption. These principles are reflected in our 

procedures and ways of working.  

There is an expectation and requirement that all individuals and organisations associated with 

Thameswey in whatever way, such as contractors, partners and suppliers, will act with integrity 

and that directors and staff at all levels will lead by example in these matters ensuring 

adherence to legal requirements, financial regulations, codes of conduct, procedures and 

professional practice. 

Selflessness:  Thameswey should never improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on 

any person.  

Honesty and Integrity: Thameswey directors and staff should not place themselves in 

situations where their honesty and integrity may be questioned, should not behave improperly 

and should on all occasions avoid the appearance of such behaviour. 

Objectivity:  Thameswey directors and staff should make decisions on merit, including when 

making appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards or benefits. 

Accountability: Thameswey directors and staff should recognise that they are part of a body 

which is accountable to the public for their actions and the manner in which they carry out their 

responsibilities and should therefore co-operate fully and honestly with any scrutiny appropriate 

to their office. 

Openness:  Thameswey directors and staff should be as open as possible about their actions 

and those of their authority, and should be prepared to give reasons for those actions.  

Personal Judgment:  Thameswey directors and staff may take account of the views of others 

but should reach their own conclusions on the issues before them and act in accordance with 

those conclusions.  

Page 23



2 6  N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 4                        P a g e  |  8  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

Respect for Others:  Thameswey directors and staff should promote equality by not 

discriminating unlawfully against any person, and by treating people with respect regardless of 

their race, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation or disability. They should respect the integrity 

of the statutory officers of WBC and all employees of Thameswey companies and WBC. 

Leadership:  Thameswey directors and staff should promote and support these principles by 

leadership, and by example, and should act in a way that secures or preserves confidence in 

the actions and operations of the Thameswey Group.  

 

 

17. Concurrent employment 
The boards of each Thameswey company shall, subject to all applicable laws, exercise all 

reasonable endeavors to procure that the employment contracts of Thameswey company 

employees restrict such employees from accepting employment or a position of responsibility 

(such as a consultant or a director) elsewhere. Councillor Directors and Independent Directors 

will be required to notify the company of externalsuch appointments but do not require prior 

approval. Where such appointments would put a director in a position where his interests would 

be conflicted, they may be approved in advance by either a resolution of the shareholders or, 

where a company's articles of association permit, by the board of the Thameswey Company 

concerned. 

 

18. Communication by Thameswey with Council 

committees and Councillors 
 

The Board attaches great importance to maintaining good relationships with all shareholders, 

who are kept informed of significant company developments. 

a) All Councillors will have access to all agendas & reports -subject to commercial 

confidentiality and as such need to have signed a current Non Disclosure Agreement 

prior to receiving any paperwork board papers or attending meetings. To do this the 

Group shall adopt the same Part 1 & Part 2 agenda split arrangements that the Council 

does in its meetings/papersoperates.  

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Page 24



2 6  N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 4                        P a g e  |  9  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

b) To aid transparency, Thameswey will list dates of Board meetings on the Thameswey 

web site. 

c) Summary briefings will be given to Councillors and presentations will be made of the mid 

financial year results to date against the Thameswey business plan and at the same 

time of as the annual business plan approval. This ese briefings will include a summary 

of previous period activity and expectations for the forthcoming period. Other meetings 

to discuss company direction will be held on an ad hoc basis. Regular dialogue will help 

to ensure that the company's strategy is understood and that any queries or other issues 

are addressed in a constructive way. 

d) All company announcements and presentations (subject to confidentiality arrangements) 

will be made available on the Thameswey website which should  also contain corporate 

corporate and customer information information and information for customers, updated 

on a regular basis and together with answers to frequently asked questions. 

The managing directorchief operating officer, group finance directorchief financial officer and 

other directors should be closely involved in shareholder relations and report back to the board 

the views of WBC and any communication from WBC to ensure that, both executive and non-

executive directors, have an understanding of the view. The chairman and the other directors 

are available to meet the major shareholder on a mutually agreed basis. The board seeks to 

encourage a more active interest and contribution from shareholders. 

 

19. Board Governance 
 
A company board should not be so large as to be unwieldy. The boards should be of sufficient 

size that the balance of skills and experience is appropriate for the requirements of the business 

and that changes to the board’s composition can be managed without undue disruption. 

To ensure that power and information are not concentrated in one or two individuals, there 

should be a strong presence on all boards of Independent, Councillor and Officer Directors. 

Accordingly Group Company Boards should seek to achieve the following proportions, 1 

Independent director, 1 Councillor Director and 2 Officer Directors but in any case Officer 

Directors must not be in the majority. 

The Thameswey Ltd. board will appoint one of the Independent directors to be the Chairman of 

the Board. The Chairman will be accountable to the shareholder if it has concerns on any matter 

in respect of which contact through the normal channels of managing director or finance 

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Page 25



2 6  N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 4                        P a g e  |  1 0  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

directorchief operating officer and chief financial officer, has failed to resolve or for which such 

contact is inappropriate. 

Whilst recognising that most shareholder contact is with the managing directorchief operating 

officer and finance directorchief financial officer, the chairman and other directors as appropriate 

will maintain sufficient contact with WBC to understand its issues and concerns. 

a) The Chairman will ensure that the views of the shareholder are communicated to the 

Thameswey Ltd. board as a whole. The Chairman and WBC may discuss governance 

and strategy. Independent directors should be offered the opportunity to attend meetings 

with WBC. The Chairman will attend sufficient meetings with a range of representatives 

of WBC to listen to their views in order to help develop a balanced understanding of the 

issues and concerns of WBC. 

b) Subject to them having completed and submitted in advance, a Non Disclosure 
Agreement: - 

 
i. The agendas of board meetings of Thameswey Limited and its 

subsidiaries shall be available to Members of the Council; and 

ii. Members of the Council may attend board meetings as observers, by 

prior written notification to the Chairman of the relevant board. 

c) Subsidiary Company boards must submit any new proposals which cause changes to 

the Council Approved Thameswey Group Business Plan to Thameswey Limited which, if 

it supports the proposal, will may recommend accordingly to the WBC Executive for 

consideration and recommendation thereon to the Council for approval. 

20. Composition of the Boards 
The respective Company boards should comprise of the following Directors and be reviewed 

annually by the Council: - 

Thameswey Limited (Group Holding Company) 

Councillor Directors 

The Leader of the Council, or his/her nominee, who must be a Member of the Council’s 

Executive 

Council Directors appointed to the Board of any subsidiary 

Independent Directors 

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Page 26



2 6  N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 4                        P a g e  |  1 1  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

Three Independent Directors recruited by the Council 

Officer Directors 

The Chief Executive of the Council 

Officer Directors appointed to the Board of any subsidiary 

 

Subsidiary Companies within the Thameswey Group 

Councillor Directors 

The Leader of the Council, or his/her nominee, who must be a Member of the Council’s 

Executive 

The Member of the Council holding the Portfolio for the relevant area of the Council’s 

business 

Any other Member of the Council  

 

Independent Directors 

Up to two Independent Directors 

Officer Directors 

Up to two Officer Directors 

Additional Director 

The Managing Director of Thameswey Limited 

Associated Companies 

Where Thameswey Limited has less than 51% of the shares of an Associated Company the 

composition of the board will be determined by the Council, or in accordance with the 

arrangements determined by the Council.  when the Company is established  

Election of Chairman 

Thameswey Limited and its subsidiaries shall ensure that an Independent Director is elected 

Chairman of the respective Company. 

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Page 27



2 6  N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 4                        P a g e  |  1 2  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

Quorum 

A quorum for each board meeting shall be at least the greater of 40% of the membership of the 

board or three directors which must comprise at least 1 Independent Director, 1 Councillor 

Director and 1 Officer Director of the relevant board. 

Alternate Directors 

All Directors of subsidiary companies may appoint an Alternate Director of the same Director 

class (Independent, Councillor or Officer) in the event that he/she cannot attend a board 

meeting.  The Alternate Director must be a Director of Thameswey Limited. 

Additional Directors 

The shareholder of a Thameswey Group subsidiary may appoint an Additional Director in the 

event that a director of the subsidiary is absent and has not appointed an Alternate Director. 

The Alternate Director must be a Director of Thameswey Limited. 

The shareholder of Thameswey Limited may appoint an Additional Director in the event that a 

director of Thameswey Limited is absent and has not appointed an Alternate Director. 

21. Company Board Meetings 
Company board meetings will usually be held in person.  In the event that exceptional 

circumstances necessitate a paper, email, telephone, video, electronic or other form of meeting 

permitted by the Articles or Company law, the Company shall in the notice of the meeting state 

the reasons for the meeting in a different form and record in the minutes of the said meeting the 

reasons and the decision reached at the meeting.  The minutes of the said meeting will be 

published as soon as possible and reported to the next normal board meeting of the Company. 

22. Listing of Group companies 
This Protocol will apply to Thameswey Limited and its subsidiaries and associated companies 

as determined from time to time. At 28th November 2014 the Thameswey Group Companies 

are: - Thameswey Energy Limited (TEL); Thameswey Central Milton Keynes Limited (TCMK); 

Thameswey Sustainable Communities Limited (TSC); Thameswey Housing Limited (THL); 

Thameswey Developments Limited (TDL); Thameswey Solar Limited (TSL); Thameswey Guest 

Houses Limited (TGHL) and Thameswey Maintenance Services Limited (TMSL). 

23.22. Website communication 

To the extent possible to preserve commercial confidentiality, Thameswey Group company 
agendas and minutes will not be published on the Group website. 

Formatted: Font color: Accent 3

Page 28



2 6  N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 4                        P a g e  |  1 3  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

A management report will be published quarterly. 

 
End 

Page 29





J a n u a r y  2 0 1 8                        P a g e  |  1  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

Appendix 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Thameswey Group Protocols 

Page 31



J a n u a r y  2 0 1 8                        P a g e  |  2  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

Contents 

1. Protocol Group .................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 3 

3. Financial reporting and records ........................................................................................... 3 

4. Performance and Financial Monitoring Information ............................................................. 4 

5. Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for all Thameswey companies ..................................... 4 

6. Political non-alignment ........................................................................................................ 4 

7. Cooperation between Thameswey companies .................................................................... 4 

8. Public representation of the company and the group .......................................................... 5 

9. Third party representation ................................................................................................... 5 

10. Use of the Thameswey brand ............................................................................................. 5 

11. Protecting company assets ................................................................................................. 5 

12. Group Policies .................................................................................................................... 6 

13. Intra Group Communications .............................................................................................. 6 

14. Shareholders ...................................................................................................................... 6 

15. Corporate citizenship .......................................................................................................... 6 

16. Conduct .............................................................................................................................. 6 

17. Concurrent employment ...................................................................................................... 7 

18. Communication by Thameswey with Council committees and Councillors .......................... 8 

19. Board Governance .............................................................................................................. 9 

20. Composition of the Boards .................................................................................................10 

21. Company Board Meetings ..................................................................................................11 

22. Website communication .....................................................................................................12 

 

Page 32



J a n u a r y  2 0 1 8                        P a g e  |  3  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

 

 

Protocol Group 

Thameswey Group Protocols 

1. Protocol Group 
The Thameswey Group Protocol has been introduced in order to ensure good governance and 

management of the Thameswey Group of Companies. It has been agreed and is reviewed by  a 

Working Group appointed by the Council in its role as Group Shareholder.  

2. Introduction 
The Thameswey Group of companies (“Company” or “Group”) focuses on the development and 

management of projects that increase the use of sustainable energy, tackle fuel poverty, reduce 

water waste and encourage green transport both inside and outside the Borough of Woking, 

provide affordable homes and develop land and property in support of the Council’s strategies. 

The Thameswey Group is committed to benefiting the sustainable economic development of the 

Borough of Woking. 

To the extent permitted by law, no Thameswey company shall undertake any project or activity 

to the detriment of the Woking Borough Council (“Council” or “WBC”) or the wider interests of 

the communities which it serves. 

3. Financial reporting and records 
Thameswey prepares and maintains its accounts in accordance with the accounting and 

financial reporting standards which represent the generally accepted guidelines, principles, 

standards, laws and regulations of the UK. Thameswey’s management practices and business 

conduct benefit the localities and communities in which it operates, to the extent possible and 

affordable, and are in accordance with the agreed strategies of the Council. 

Internal accounting and audit procedures reflect all of the company’s business transactions and 

disposition of assets, and has internal controls to provide assurance to the company’s board, 

shareholders and stakeholders that the transactions are accurate and legitimate. All required 

information is accessible to company auditors and other authorised parties and the Council.  

Thameswey operates under a system of delegated authority which is reviewed annually to 

ensure it remains relevant and fit for purpose. 

Page 33



J a n u a r y  2 0 1 8                        P a g e  |  4  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

4. Performance and Financial Monitoring Information 
The Thameswey Group has been organised and resourced to prepare full financial activity 

reports as part of the statutory accounts and at Board meetings (currently 3 times a year).Key 

information, set out in (5) below is prepared for inclusion in the Council’s Green Book on a 

monthly basis. Thameswey Limited also provides a monthly performance report to all Boards. 

This report is regularly reviewed by the Thameswey Limited Board. 

5. Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for all Thameswey 

companies  
With comparisons to approved budget: 

i. New lending  

ii. Loan and Interest Payments 

iii. Sales  

iv. Capital Expenditure  

v. Employee numbers 

6. Political non-alignment 
Subject to all applicable legal obligations, Thameswey is committed to supporting the 

constitution and governance systems of the Council. Thameswey does not support any specific 

political party or candidate for political office. The company’s conduct precludes any activity that 

could be interpreted as mutual dependence / favour with any political body or person, and does 

not offer or give any company funds or property as donations to any political party, candidate or 

campaign. 

 

7. Cooperation between Thameswey companies 
Thameswey companies cooperate with other Thameswey group companies including applicable 

joint ventures, by sharing knowledge and physical, human and management resources. 

In the procurement of products and services, a Thameswey company gives preference to other 

Thameswey companies, subject to relevant EU procurement rules, and as long as they can 

provide these on competitive terms relative to third parties. 

Page 34



J a n u a r y  2 0 1 8                        P a g e  |  5  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

8. Public representation of the company and the group 
The Thameswey group, in all its public appearances (with respect to disclosing company and 

business information to public, constituencies such as the media, the financial community, 

employees and shareholders), may be represented by any director and/or specified employee 

as approved from time to time by the respective company board.  

9. Third party representation 
Parties which have business dealings with the Thameswey group but are not members of the 

group, such as consultants, contractors and suppliers, are not authorised to represent a 

Thameswey company without the written permission of the Thameswey Limited board. 

Third parties and their employees are expected to abide by the Group code of conduct in their 

interaction with, and on behalf of, a Thameswey company. Thameswey companies are 

encouraged to sign a non-disclosure agreement with third parties to support confidentiality of 

information. 

10. Use of the Thameswey brand 
The use of the Thameswey name and trademark shall be governed by manuals and 

agreements issued by Thameswey. No third party or joint venture shall use the Thameswey 

brand to further its interests without specific authorisation from the board of Thameswey Limited 

or its authorised officer.  

The brand should be consistently used in all published material and communications. An 

administrator will be tasked to oversee the use of the brand identity to ensure consistency and 

training will be arranged if needed. Any new staff will be offered a short induction session on 

correct use.  

 

11. Protecting company assets  
The assets of a Thameswey company shall not be misused; they shall be employed judiciously 

for the purpose of conducting the business for which they are duly authorised. These include 

tangible assets such as equipment and machinery, systems, facilities, materials and resources, 

as well as intangible assets such as information technology and systems, proprietary 

information, intellectual property, and relationships with customers and suppliers. 

Page 35



J a n u a r y  2 0 1 8                        P a g e  |  6  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

12. Group Policies 
The shareholders of each Thameswey company shall recommend its board of directors adopt 

the policies and guidelines periodically formulated by the Thameswey Limited board. 

Thameswey Limited operates and has approved a scheme of delegation which empowers 

officers of the group to make operational decisions, including committing to contracts and 

expenditure, within prescribed limits.  

13. Intra Group Communications 
Members of the board of Thameswey Ltd. will receive agendas, minutes and reports from each 

of its subsidiary’s board meetings, as soon as they become available.  

14. Shareholders 
Thameswey Limited and its subsidiaries shall be committed to enhancing shareholder value and 

complying with all regulations and laws that govern shareholder rights. The board of directors of 

a Thameswey company shall inform its shareholders about all relevant aspects of the 

company’s business. 

15. Corporate citizenship 
A Thameswey company shall be committed to good corporate citizenship, not only in the 

compliance of all relevant laws and regulations but also by actively assisting in the improvement 

of quality of life of the people in the communities in which it operates. The company shall 

encourage collaboration with community groups. 

A Thameswey company shall not treat these activities as optional, but should strive to 

incorporate them as an integral part of its business plan. 

16. Conduct 
Thameswey supports the following principles of public life and the culture of the business is one 

of honesty and opposition to fraud and corruption. These principles are reflected in our 

procedures and ways of working.  

There is an expectation and requirement that all individuals and organisations associated with 

Thameswey in whatever way, such as contractors, partners and suppliers, will act with integrity 

and that directors and staff at all levels will lead by example in these matters ensuring 

adherence to legal requirements, financial regulations, codes of conduct, procedures and 

professional practice. 

Page 36



J a n u a r y  2 0 1 8                        P a g e  |  7  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

Selflessness:  Thameswey should never improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on 

any person.  

Honesty and Integrity: Thameswey directors and staff should not place themselves in 

situations where their honesty and integrity may be questioned, should not behave improperly 

and should on all occasions avoid the appearance of such behaviour. 

Objectivity:  Thameswey directors and staff should make decisions on merit, including when 

making appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards or benefits. 

Accountability: Thameswey directors and staff should recognise that they are part of a body 

which is accountable to the public for their actions and the manner in which they carry out their 

responsibilities and should therefore co-operate fully and honestly with any scrutiny appropriate 

to their office. 

Openness:  Thameswey directors and staff should be as open as possible about their actions 

and those of their authority, and should be prepared to give reasons for those actions.  

Personal Judgment:  Thameswey directors and staff may take account of the views of others 

but should reach their own conclusions on the issues before them and act in accordance with 

those conclusions.  

Respect for Others:  Thameswey directors and staff should promote equality by not 

discriminating unlawfully against any person, and by treating people with respect regardless of 

their race, age, religion, gender, sexual orientation or disability. They should respect the integrity 

of the statutory officers of WBC and all employees of Thameswey companies and WBC. 

Leadership:  Thameswey directors and staff should promote and support these principles by 

leadership, and by example, and should act in a way that secures or preserves confidence in 

the actions and operations of the Thameswey Group.  

 

 

17. Concurrent employment 
Councillor Directors and Independent Directors will be required to notify the company of external 

appointments but do not require prior approval. Where such appointments would put a director 

in a position where his interests would be conflicted, they may be approved in advance by either 

a resolution of the shareholders or, where a company's articles of association permit, by the 

board of the Thameswey Company concerned. 

Page 37



J a n u a r y  2 0 1 8                        P a g e  |  8  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

 

18. Communication by Thameswey with Council 

committees and Councillors 
 

The Board attaches great importance to maintaining good relationships with all shareholders, 

who are kept informed of significant company developments. 

a) All Councillors will have access to all agendas & reports -subject to commercial 

confidentiality and as such need to have signed a current Non Disclosure Agreement 

prior to receiving any board papers or attending meetings.  

b) To aid transparency, Thameswey will list dates of Board meetings on the Thameswey 

web site. 

c) Summary briefings will be given to Councillors and presentations will be made of the 

financial year results to date against the Thameswey business plan at the same time as 

the annual business plan approval. This  briefing will include a summary of previous 

period activity and expectations for the forthcoming period. Other meetings to discuss 

company direction will be held on an ad hoc basis. Regular dialogue will help to ensure 

that the company's strategy is understood and that any queries or other issues are 

addressed in a constructive way. 

d) All company announcements and presentations (subject to confidentiality arrangements) 

will be made available on the Thameswey website which should  also contain corporate 

and customer information , updated on a regular basis together with answers to 

frequently asked questions. 

The chief operating officer, chief financial officer and directors should be closely involved in 

shareholder relations and report back to the board the views of WBC and any communication 

from WBC to ensure that, both executive and non-executive directors, have an understanding of 

the view. The chairman and the other directors are available to meet the major shareholder on a 

mutually agreed basis. The board seeks to encourage a more active interest and contribution 

from shareholders. 

 

 

Page 38



J a n u a r y  2 0 1 8                        P a g e  |  9  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

19. Board Governance 
 
A company board should not be so large as to be unwieldy. The boards should be of sufficient 

size that the balance of skills and experience is appropriate for the requirements of the business 

and that changes to the board’s composition can be managed without undue disruption. 

To ensure that power and information are not concentrated in one or two individuals, there 

should be a strong presence on all boards of Independent, Councillor and Officer Directors. 

Accordingly Group Company Boards should seek to achieve the following proportions, 1 

Independent director, 1 Councillor Director and 2 Officer Directors but in any case Officer 

Directors must not be in the majority. 

The Thameswey Ltd. board will appoint one of the Independent directors to be the Chairman of 

the Board. The Chairman will be accountable to the shareholder if it has concerns on any matter 

in respect of which contact through the normal channels of chief operating officer and chief 

financial officer, has failed to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate. 

Whilst recognising that most shareholder contact is with the chief operating officer and chief 

financial officer, the chairman and other directors as appropriate will maintain sufficient contact 

with WBC to understand its issues and concerns. 

a) The Chairman will ensure that the views of the shareholder are communicated to the 

Thameswey Ltd. board as a whole. The Chairman and WBC may discuss governance 

and strategy. Independent directors should be offered the opportunity to attend meetings 

with WBC. The Chairman will attend sufficient meetings with a range of representatives 

of WBC to listen to their views in order to help develop a balanced understanding of the 

issues and concerns of WBC. 

b) Subject to them having completed and submitted in advance, a Non Disclosure 
Agreement: - 

 
i. The agendas of board meetings of Thameswey Limited and its 

subsidiaries shall be available to Members of the Council; and 

ii. Members of the Council may attend board meetings as observers, by 

prior written notification to the Chairman of the relevant board. 

c) Subsidiary Company boards must submit any new proposals which cause changes to 

the Council Approved Thameswey Group Business Plan to Thameswey Limited which, if 

it supports the proposal, will recommend accordingly to the WBC Executive for 

consideration and recommendation thereon to the Council for approval. 

Page 39



J a n u a r y  2 0 1 8                        P a g e  |  1 0  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

20. Composition of the Boards 
The respective Company boards should comprise of the following Directors and be reviewed 

annually by the Council: - 

Thameswey Limited (Group Holding Company) 

Councillor Directors 

The Leader of the Council, or his/her nominee, who must be a Member of the Council’s 

Executive 

Council Directors appointed to the Board of any subsidiary 

Independent Directors 

Independent Directors recruited by the Council 

Officer Directors 

The Chief Executive of the Council 

Officer Directors appointed to the Board of any subsidiary 

 

Subsidiary Companies within the Thameswey Group 

Councillor Directors 

The Leader of the Council, or his/her nominee, who must be a Member of the Council’s 

Executive 

The Member of the Council holding the Portfolio for the relevant area of the Council’s 

business 

Any other Member of the Council  

 

Independent Directors 

Up to two Independent Directors 

Officer Directors 

Up to two Officer Directors 

Page 40



J a n u a r y  2 0 1 8                        P a g e  |  1 1  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

Associated Companies 

Where Thameswey Limited has less than 51% of the shares of an Associated Company the 

composition of the board will be determined by the Council, or in accordance with the 

arrangements determined by the Council.   

Election of Chairman 

Thameswey Limited and its subsidiaries shall ensure that an Independent Director is elected 

Chairman of the respective Company. 

Quorum 

A quorum for each board meeting shall be at least three directors which must comprise at least 

1 Independent Director, 1 Councillor Director and 1 Officer Director of the relevant board. 

Alternate Directors 

All Directors of subsidiary companies may appoint an Alternate Director of the same Director 

class (Independent, Councillor or Officer) in the event that he/she cannot attend a board 

meeting.  The Alternate Director must be a Director of Thameswey Limited. 

Additional Directors 

The shareholder of a Thameswey Group subsidiary may appoint an Additional Director in the 

event that a director of the subsidiary is absent and has not appointed an Alternate Director. 

The Alternate Director must be a Director of Thameswey Limited. 

The shareholder of Thameswey Limited may appoint an Additional Director in the event that a 

director of Thameswey Limited is absent and has not appointed an Alternate Director. 

21. Company Board Meetings 
Company board meetings will usually be held in person.  In the event that exceptional 

circumstances necessitate a paper, email, telephone, video, electronic or other form of meeting 

permitted by the Articles or Company law, the Company shall in the notice of the meeting state 

the reasons for the meeting in a different form and record in the minutes of the said meeting the 

reasons and the decision reached at the meeting.  The minutes of the said meeting will be 

published as soon as possible and reported to the next normal board meeting of the Company. 

Page 41



J a n u a r y  2 0 1 8                        P a g e  |  1 2  

 T h a m e s w e y  G r o u p  P r o t o c o l  

 

22. Website communication 

To the extent possible to preserve commercial confidentiality, Thameswey Group company 
agendas and minutes will not be published on the Group website. 

 
End 

Page 42



Appendix 3 

Extract from the minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 27 November 
2017. 
 

MINUTES 
 

OF A MEETING OF THE 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  

held on Monday, 27 November 2017  
Present: 

Cllr I Johnson (Chairman) 
Cllr K Davis (Vice-Chairman) 

 Cllr Mrs H J Addison Cllr J Kingsbury 
 Cllr J Bond  Cllr M I Raja 

Cllr C Rana 
 

Absent:  Councillors A-M Barker, G G Chrystie and R Mohammed. 
 
Also Present: Sue Barham, Strategic Director, Leigh Clarke, Chief Finance 

Officer, and Riette Thomas, Project Manager for Celebrate 
Woking. 

 
 

7. PROTOCOLS OF THE THAMESWEY GROUP OF COMPANIES 

The Chairman and Councillor Kingsbury presented their report on the review of 
the Protocols of the Thameswey Group of Companies.  Appended to the report 
was a revised version of the Protocols and Members were invited to comment 
on the changes before recommending to the Executive its adoption. 

Councillor Kingsbury drew attention to the lack of attendance to the 
Thameswey Board meetings by Elected Members, though noted that this could 
have been due to Members being happy with the current management 
arrangements of the Companies.  However, it was felt that Members should 
seek to attend in order to broaden their understanding and knowledge as there 
was a concern that there were misconceptions amongst residents of the work 
undertaken through Thameswey, in particular of the benefits for the Borough.  
Overall, the Committee were content with the revisions set out in Appendix 2 to 
the report. OSC17-026 

 
RECOMMENDED to the Executive 

That the revised Protocols of the Thameswey Group of 
Companies, as set out in Appendix 2 to the report, be 
considered and recommended for adoption by Council. 

 

Page 43





 

EXE17-082 
1 

Agenda Item No. 7 
 
EXECUTIVE - 18 JANUARY 2018 

FIXED PENALTY NOTICE (FPN) POLICY FOR FLY TIPPING OFFENCES 

Executive Summary 

The purpose of this report is to seek authorisation for the level of penalty to be fixed to enable 
authorised officers to issue fixed penalty notices (FPNs) for contraventions of section 33(1)(a) of 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA) for fly tipping.  

The new provisions (Regulation 2 of the Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) 
Regulations 2016 enacted on 9 May 2016 provide for an amount of not less than £150 and not 
more than £400 as specified by the Waste Collection Authority and £200 if no amount is 
specified by the Local Authority. 

Reasons for Decision 

The introduction of a fixed penalty notice scheme for fly tipping offences is considered a 
necessary and proportionate response to the current environmental issues facing the Council. 

Recommendations 

The Executive is requested to: 

RECOMMEND to Council That  

i)  the Council issue fixed penalty notices for fly tipping under the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990; 

ii) the level of fixed penalty notices shall be set at £400 per penalty notice for fly 
tipping, such penalty to be reduced to £300 if paid within 10 days as provided 
for under Regulation 2 of the Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) 
Regulations 2016; 

iii) authority be delegated to the Assistant Director (Place), in consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder for Environmental and Well Being Services, to vary the 
level of all environmental fixed penalty notice charges in accordance with  
legislation; and 

iv) authority be delegated to the Assistant Director (Place) to authorise any 
persons to issue fixed penalty notices for fly tipping under the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990. 

 

This item will need to be dealt with by way of a recommendation to the 
Council. 

 

 

Background Papers: 

Sustainability Impact Assessment 
Equalities Impact Assessment 
 

Page 45

Agenda Item 8.



Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) Policy for Fly Tipping Offences 

2 

Reporting Person: 

Douglas Spinks, Deputy Chief Executive 
Ext. 3440, E Mail: Douglas.Spinks@woking.gov.uk 
 
Contact Person: 

Geoff McManus, Neighbourhood Services Manager 
Ext. 3707, E Mail: Geoff.McManus@woking.gov.uk 
 
Janine Knighton, Deputy Environmental Health Manager 
Ext. 3017, E Mail: Janine.Knighton@woking.gov.uk 
 
Portfolio Holder: 

Cllr Beryl Hunwicks 
E Mail: CllrBeryl.Hunwicks@woking.gov.uk 
 
Shadow Portfolio Holder:  

Cllr Ken Howard 
E Mail: cllrken.howard@woking.gov.uk 
 

Date Published: 

10 January 2018 

Page 46



Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) Policy for Fly Tipping Offences 

3 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 On 9 May 2016, the Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) Regulations 2016 
amends section 33 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA) by inserting a new 
section 33ZA into the EPA 1990 granting powers to Waste Collection Authorities to issue 
fixed penalty notices (FPNs) for fly tipping, as an alternative solution to prosecution. 

1.2 These regulations introduce powers to serve a fixed penalty notice on a person found to 
be responsible for fly tipping offences (this excludes operators in the waste management 
industry, those responsible for the tipping of hazardous waste and repeat offenders). 

1.3 Section 33 (1) (a) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 creates an offence for 
depositing controlled waste or knowingly permitted controlled waste to be deposited on 
any land unless the person has a valid permit authorising them to do so. A person in 
contravention of this provision is liable to prosecution. Woking Borough Council is an 
enforcement authority under the provisions of the Act. 

1.4 An FPN offers the offender the opportunity to discharge their liability by accepting a fixed 
penalty notice instead of prosecution. 

1.5 It is intended that fixed penalty notices will typically be used by officers to deal with small 
to medium sized fly tips, with the larger scale fly tips being referred to Legal to consider 
prosecution and hazardous waste offences remaining the responsibility of the 
Environment Agency. 

2.0 Background 

2.1 Fly tipping is a significant problem to local communities and is a risk to the environment.  It 
is a drain on Council resources and undermines legitimate waste businesses, where 
unscrupulous operators undercut those that operate within the law. 

2.2 In 2014/15, local authorities reported 900,000 incidents of fly tipping, costing taxpayers in 
England an estimated £50 million to clear.  The costs to local authorities of investigating, 
bringing prosecutions, clearance and disposal of fly tipping are considerable. Where fines 
are issued, as a result of a successful prosecution, they are paid to the court rather than 
the prosecuting authority. 

2.3 At present, the Council has the ability to issue Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) for a variety 
of environmental offences as an alternative to prosecution including littering, dog fouling, 
smoke free offences and unlicensed waste carriers.  These FPNs are issued by 
authorised officers within the Environmental Health and Neighbourhood teams and also 
Environmental Enforcement Officers contracted through Kingdom.  The same authorised 
officers will be responsible for issuing FPNs for small to medium scale fly tipping offences. 

2.4 Fly tipping is an offence under section 33 (1) (a) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.  
Currently the Council has two options when enforcing against a fly tipping offender, as 
follows: 

• Taking formal court proceedings by way of a prosecution; or 

• Issuing a £75.00 (reduced to £50.00 if paid within 10 days) Fixed Penalty Notice 
for the offence of littering. 

2.5 Many parts of the Borough are subject to persistent fly tipping, especially in rural and 
secluded areas.  Council Officers with delegated powers use a range of techniques to 

Page 47



Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) Policy for Fly Tipping Offences 

4 

identify perpetrators, which include the use of CCTV cameras, investigating the ownership 
of vehicles seen dumping waste illegally and searching through fly tipped waste to look for 
evidence.  It is important that perpetrators receive a sanction that properly reflects the 
damage to the environment and local community, the cost to the Local Authority in 
clearing the dumped waste, which also acts as a deterrent against future offending, both 
for the identified offender and, if suitably publicised, for others who may be minded to tip.  
A £75.00 penalty under the current rules falls short on all counts. 

2.6 The Environmental Protection Act 1990 does not provide a comprehensive definition of 
litter or refuse. However, it is considered that a single plastic sack of rubbish should 
normally be considered fly tipping rather than litter. Controlled waste is defined at section 
75(4) of the EPA 1990 to mean household, industrial and commercial waste or any such 
waste. 

2.7 In determining the appropriate levels of fixed penalty to be imposed for small to medium 
scale fly tipping, the Council will need to take into account the deterrent effect of different 
levels, peoples’ readiness to pay and the levels of fines for fly tipping currently imposed in 
the magistrates’ courts.  Fixed penalties that are set too high for local conditions or are 
likely to be higher than a fine imposed by the Court in the event of non-payment, will lead 
to substantial non-payment rates and so are counter-productive. 

2.8 There is a set legal standard payment period of 14 days for the payment of fixed penalties. 
Once a fixed penalty notice has been issued, an authority cannot prosecute for the 
offence if the fixed penalty is paid within this period, and this must be stated on the notice 
itself. For this reason, the period during which a discount for early payment is offered must 
be less than 14 days and in line with the Regulations cannot be more than 10 days. Again, 
this will be consistent with the standards set by other local authorities and this approach is 
already in place for other fixed penalty notices for environmental offences. 

2.9 The Council’s new FPN powers for small to medium scale fly tipping will be used as part 
of the package of enforcement options available in accordance with the Council’s 
Corporate Enforcement Policy. 

2.10 The provision of fixed penalty notices for fly tipping will allow officers to serve FPNs of 
between £150 and £400 for small to medium scale fly tipping offences as an alternative to 
prosecution, which will ultimately save the Authority money and negate the need for a 
formal prosecution.  The FPN can be served on any identified perpetrator, including home 
owners / occupiers, business owners and registered keepers of vehicles seen depositing 
larger amounts of waste from a vehicle. 

2.11 As shown in the table below reports of fly tipping in Woking are unfortunately not slowing 
despite ongoing promotional and enforcement activity. 

Financial year 2016/2017 (Full year) April 2017 to November 2017 (Part year) 

Highway – 414  Highway – 246 

Council Land – 918 Council Land – 720 

Footpath – 3 Footpath - 0 

Total – 1335    Total – 966 

 

2.12 Investigations into fly tipping are resource intensive and can be lengthy and complex.  It is 
proposed that the fixed penalty notice amount is set at the maximum £400, to be paid 
within 14 days (as prescribed by the legislation) with a reduction to £300 if paid within the 
first 10 days. 

Page 48



Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) Policy for Fly Tipping Offences 

5 

2.13 This will incorporate the clear up costs and takes into account officer time and other 
overheads, which are involved in removing this type of waste from public areas.  This will 
provide a more proportionate and expeditious approach to deal with small scale fly tipping 
offences.  The Council will continue to prosecute serious cases and repeat offenders 
through the court, together with those who fail to pay the FPN. 

3.0 Proposals 

3.1 It is proposed that Council: 

• Endorses the issuance of fixed penalty notices for fly tipping; 

• Sets a fixed penalty amount of £400 for fly tipping, payable within 14 days and 
reduced to £300 if paid within 10 days in accordance with the Unauthorised 
deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) Regulations 2016; 

• Delegates to the Assistant Director (Place), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
for Environmental and Well Being Services, the ability to vary all environmental 
FPN charges in accordance with legislation; and 

• Delegates to the Assistant Director (Place) the ability to authorise any persons to 
issue fixed penalty notices for fly tipping under the Environmental Protection Act 
1990. 

4.0 Implications 

 Financial 

4.1 The use of FPNs has the potential of yielding a modest income. In accordance with the 
current Regulations, FPN receipts will be used for the purpose of exercising functions to 
improve street cleanliness and enforcement of offences; it is not being regarded as an 
‘income generator’. 

4.2 It is not envisaged that the revenue generated from the fines will be significant, but it will 
reduce the need to pursue costly prosecution in some cases and enable a more flexible 
approach in dealing with specific offences under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

 Human Resource/Training and Development 

4.3 The implementation of one additional fixed penalty option will have no significant impact 
on current departmental resources. 

 Community Safety 

4.4 There are no adverse community safety implications. Improvements to personal 
accessibility and the wider public realm are likely to have a positive effect upon access 
and public safety. 

Risk Management 

4.5 All Authorised Officers are fully trained and competent in serving fixed penalty notices.  
Any new staff will be assessed to ensure that relevant training is provided in relation to fly 
tipping enforcement and the serving of fixed penalty notices. 

 

Page 49



Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) Policy for Fly Tipping Offences 

6 

 Sustainability   

4.6 Implementation of the proposal will aim to reduce fly tipping through enforcement and 
education and this will improve the aesthetics of the Borough whilst promoting health and 
wellbeing. 

 Equalities   

4.7 The proposals set out in the report have been the subject of an Equality Impact 
Assessment and no adverse implications have been identified. 

5.0 Consultations 

5.1 The Portfolio Holder for Environmental and Well Being Services has been consulted in the 
drafting of this report. 

6.0 Conclusions 

6.1 The introduction of a fixed penalty notice scheme for fly tipping offences is considered a 
necessary and proportionate response to the current environmental issues facing the 
Council and will equally save the time and expense of instigating prosecutions through the 
courts. The recommended level of fine at £400 with a reduction to £300 if paid within 10 
days would provide a targeted response to existing problems of fly tipping within the 
Borough, in accordance with the new Legislative Framework. 

REPORT ENDS 
 
EXE17-082 
 
 

 

Page 50



Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) Policy for Fly Tipping Offences 

7 

APPENDICES 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 

 
8 

Equality Impact Assessment 

 
The purpose of this assessment is to improve the work of the Council by making sure that it does not discriminate against any individual or 
group and that, where possible, it promotes equality. The Council has a legal duty to comply with equalities legislation and this template 
enables you to consider the impact (positive or negative) a strategy, policy, project or service may have upon the protected groups.  

 

 

Positive impact? 

Negative 
impact? 

 
 
 

No 
specific 
impact 

What will the impact be? If the impact is negative how can 
it be mitigated? (action) 

THIS SECTION NEEDS TO BE COMPLETED AS EVIDENCE 
OF WHAT THE POSITIVE IMPACT IS OR WHAT ACTIONS 

ARE BEING TAKEN TO MITIGATE ANY NEGATIVE 
IMPACTS 

E
lim

in
a
te

 

d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o

n
 

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
 

e
q
u
a
lit

y
 

G
o
o
d
 

re
la

ti
o
n
s
 

Gender 

Men     X  

Women     X  

Gender Reassignment     X  

Race 

White     X  

Mixed/Multiple ethnic groups      X  

Asian/Asian British     X  

Black/African/Caribbean/ 
Black British 

    X  

Gypsies / travellers     X  

Other ethnic group     X  

 

P
age 52



 

9 

 

 

Positive impact? 

Negative 
impact? 

 
 
 

No 
specific 
impact 

What will the impact be? If the impact is negative how can 
it be mitigated? (action) 

THIS SECTION NEEDS TO BE COMPLETED AS EVIDENCE 
OF WHAT THE POSITIVE IMPACT IS OR WHAT ACTIONS 

ARE BEING TAKEN TO MITIGATE ANY NEGATIVE 
IMPACTS 

E
lim

in
a
te

 

d
is

c
ri
m

in
a
ti
o

n
 

A
d
v
a
n
c
e
 

e
q
u
a
lit

y
 

G
o
o
d
 

re
la

ti
o
n
s
 

Disability 

Physical     X Vulnerable person’s definition to be considered. 

Sensory     X 

Learning Difficulties     X 

Mental Health     X 

Sexual 
Orientation 

Lesbian, gay men, bisexual     X  

Age 

Older people (50+)     X  

Younger people (16 - 25)     X  

Religion or 
Belief  

Faith Groups     X  

Pregnancy & maternity   X  

Marriage & Civil Partnership   X  

Socio-economic Background   X  

 
The purpose of the Equality Impact Assessment is to improve the work of the Council by making sure it does not discriminate against any 
individual or group and that, where possible, it promotes equality. The assessment is quick and straightforward to undertake but it is an 
important step to make sure that individuals and teams think carefully about the likely impact of their work on people in Woking and take action 
to improve strategies, policies, services and projects, where appropriate.  Further details and guidance on completing the form are available. 

P
age 53



 

10 

Sustainability Impact Assessment 
 
Officers preparing a committee report are required to complete a Sustainability Impact Assessment.  Sustainability is one of the Council’s 
‘cross-cutting themes’ and the Council has made a corporate commitment to address the social, economic and environmental effects of 
activities across Business Units. The purpose of this Impact Assessment is to record any positive or negative impacts this decision, project or 
programme is likely to have on each of the Council’s Sustainability Themes.  For assistance with completing the Impact Assessment, please 
refer to the instructions below.  Further details and guidance on completing the form are available. 
 

Theme (Potential impacts of the project) 
Positive 
Impact 

Negative 
Impact 

No specific 
impact 

What will the impact be?  If the impact is 
negative, how can it be mitigated? (action) 

Use of energy, water, minerals and materials   X  

Waste generation / sustainable waste management X   Use of proper facilities 

Pollution to air, land and water X   Use of proper facilities / less pollution 

Factors that contribute to Climate Change   X  

Protection of and access to the natural environment X   Clean and safe environment 

Travel choices that do not rely on the car   X  

A strong, diverse and sustainable local economy X   Improved aesthetics 

Meet local needs locally   X  

Opportunities for education and information X   Enforcement and education 

Provision of appropriate and sustainable housing   X  

Personal safety and reduced fear of crime X   Clean and safe environment 

Equality in health and good health   X  

Access to cultural and leisure facilities   X  

Social inclusion / engage and consult communities   X  

Equal opportunities for the whole community   X  

Contribute to Woking’s pride of place X   Clean and safe environment 

 

P
age 54



 

EXE18-001 
1 

Agenda Item No. 8 
 
EXECUTIVE - 18 JANUARY 2018 

PARKING FOR THE FAITH COMMUNITY AND COMMUNITY GROUPS 

Executive Summary 

This report recommends that there should be no material change to the Council’s Policy 
Statement for Parking Charges for Members of the Faith Community and Community Groups 
(the only changes will be (i) to record that the Policy Statement was affirmed by the Executive 
on 18 January 2018 and (ii) provide for a review in January 2023). 

Reasons for Decision 

The Policy Statement was due to be reviewed in July 2017.  

Recommendations 

The Executive is requested to: 

RESOLVE That  

there be no change in the Council’s Policy Statement for Parking Charges for Members of 
the Faith Community and Community Groups (save for (i) recording that the Policy 
Statement was affirmed by the Executive on 18 January 2018 and (ii) providing for a 
review in January 2023). 

 

The Executive has authority to determine the above recommendations. 

 

Background Papers: 

None, save for those appended to this report.  
 
Reporting Person: 

Peter Bryant, Head of Democratic and Legal Services 
Ext. 3030, E Mail: Peter.Bryant@woking.gov.uk 
 
Contact Person: 

Peter Bryant, Head of Democratic and Legal Services 
Ext. 3030, E Mail: Peter.Bryant@woking.gov.uk 
 
Portfolio Holder: 

Cllr David Bittleston 
E Mail: CllrDavid.Bittleston@woking.gov.uk 
 
Shadow Portfolio Holder:  

Cllr Ann-Marie Barker 
E Mail: cllrann-marie.barker@woking.gov.uk 
 

Page 55

Agenda Item 9.



Parking for the Faith Community and Community Groups 

2 

Date Published: 

10 January 2018 

Page 56



Parking for the Faith Community and Community Groups 

3 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 On 18 July 2013, the Executive clarified the Council’s policy in respect of allowing 
members of the faith community and other community groups to park free of charge in the 
Council’s car parks. The policy is set out in the attached Policy Statement (Appendix 1). 

1.2 The context for the clarification was an allegation that the Council’s practice of allowing 
the faith community to park free of charge amounted to unlawful discrimination. This 
followed the commissioning, by the Council, of an independent Equality Impact 
Assessment (“2012 EqIA”) of its Sunday car parking practice. The 2012 EqIA was 
undertaken by Skyers-Poorman Research and Consulting. The clarification took account 
of, and was consistent with, the conclusions of the 2012 EqIA.  

1.3 Paragraph 6 of the Policy Statement provides for it to be reviewed on 12 July 2017. This 
report details the outcome of that review. 

2.0 Review 

2.1 The review of the Policy Statement has necessitated a review of the 2012 EqIA. Dr Sophia 
Skyers (CIBS IQ Research) was, therefore, appointed to review and update the 2012 EqIA 
(Dr Skyers was the joint author of the 2012 EqIA). 

2.2 In November 2017, Dr Skyers produced her report on the review of the 2012 EqIA (“2017 
Report”). A copy of the 2017 report is appended as Appendix 2.  

2.3 The recommendation in the 2017 Report is that:- 

“WBC continue with the practice in relation to Sunday parking charges of allowing 
worshippers to park for free as the Council has determined that it is a proportionate means 
of achieving a legitimate aim, and having proper regard to all of the issues contained in 
the [2012] EqIA and [the 2017 Report].” 

2.4 In deciding whether to follow the recommendation in the 2017 Report, the Executive 
should have regard to the issues it considered on 13 October 2011, 31 May 2012 and 18 
July 2013. Copies of the relevant reports are appended as Appendix 3.  

2.5 It is acknowledged that the practice of allowing the faith community to park free of charge, 
in the Council’s off-street car parks, in order to attend a place of worship for the purpose 
of, or in connection with, worship on that faith community’s primary day of worship 
amounts to indirect discrimination under the Equality Act 2010. However, this practice will 
be justified if it is a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim. 

2.6 The “legitimate aim” remains as set out in the earlier reports, i.e. the support of the faith 
communities in Woking.  Places of worship, and the faith communities that they serve, 
play an important role, both in society in general and Woking in particular. They 
encourage people to participate in society, thereby promoting social inclusion. In addition, 
considerable voluntary work is organised by faith communities, often for the benefit of the 
more disadvantaged members of our society.  

2.7 The small reduction in income to the Council resulting from allowing members of the faith 
community to park free of charge is estimated to be £1,000 per week (if everyone entitled 
to free parking chose to pay). On an annual basis, this sum (£52,000) is a small proportion 
of the Council’s overall budgeted car parking income of £7,453,000, and is taken into 
account when the Council’s estimates/budgets are prepared. As such, the reduction in 

Page 57



Parking for the Faith Community and Community Groups 

4 

income is proportionate when compared with the benefits resulting from the Council’s 
“legitimate aim”. 

3.0 Conclusions 

3.1 Having considered the 2012 EqIA, the 2017 Report and the earlier reports to the 
Executive, it is concluded that there should be no change to the Council’s policy on 
parking for the faith community and community groups. Insofar as it relates to the faith 
community, the policy is a proportionate means of achieving a legitimate aim. 

4.0 Implications 

 Financial 

4.1 As this report recommends continuing with the Council’s existing approach to free car 
parking, there are no financial implications arising directly from this report.  

 Human Resource/Training and Development 

4.2 None arising directly from this report (for the reason given in paragraph 4.1 above).  

 Community Safety 

4.3 None arising directly from this report (for the reason given in paragraph 4.1 above). 

 Risk Management 

4.4 None arising directly from this report (for the reason given in paragraph 4.1 above). 

 Sustainability 

4.5 None arising directly from this report (for the reason given in paragraph 4.1 above). 

 Equalities   

4.6 These are expressly referred to in the report and supporting documents.  

5.0 Consultations 

5.1 None.  

REPORT ENDS 
 
EXE18-001 
 
 

 

Page 58



Parking for the Faith Community and Community Groups 

5 

APPENDICES 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



 

 
6 

 

P
age 60



Appendix 1 

Woking Borough Council 

Parking Charges for Members of the Faith Community and Community Groups 

Policy Statement 

1. Places of worship, and the faith communities that they serve, play an 
important role, both in society in general and Woking in particular. 
They encourage people to participate in society, thereby promoting 
social inclusion.  In addition, considerable voluntary work is 
organised by faith communities, often for the benefit of the more 
disadvantaged members of our society.  

2. The Council will, where it is reasonable and proportionate to do so, 
support the faith communities in the borough of Woking.  

3. In furtherance of this aim (a “legitimate aim” under the Equality Act 
2010), the Council will allow members of a faith community to park 
free of charge, in the Council’s off-street car parks, in order to attend 
a place of worship for the purpose of, or in connection with, worship 
on that faith community’s primary day of worship.   

4. The Council recognises that non-faith based community groups can 
(i) similarly encourage people to participate in society, thereby 
promoting social inclusion, and (ii) undertake considerable voluntary 
work, often for the benefit of more disadvantaged members of our 
society.  

5. The Council will, where it is reasonable and proportionate to do so, 
support non-faith based community groups in the borough of Woking. 
Such support will include the provision of free car parking in the 
Council’s off-street car parks in appropriate circumstances.  

6. This Policy Statement was adopted by the Council on 18 July 2013. It 
will be reviewed on 12 July 2017, or sooner if there is a material 
change in circumstances. 

 

Page 61





CIBS	IQ	Research	
 

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

	

Sunday	Car	Parking	Charges	

Equality	Impact	Assessment	Update:		Report	to	Woking	Borough	Council	

	

	

	

Dr	Sophia	Skyers,	Consultant	Researcher	

	

November	2017	

	

	

	

	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	

Page 63



2	

	

	
	
	

1. Introduction	
1.1	 Context	and	background:		Woking	Borough	Council	(WBC)	has	a	statutory	responsibility	
under	the	Equality	Act,	2010,	to	consider	the	impact	of	its	decisions	in	relation	to	age,	disability,	sex,	
gender	reassignment,	pregnancy	and	maternity,	marriage	and	civil	partnership,	race,	religion	or	
belief,	and	sexual	orientation.		In	addition,	WBC	also	has	a	statutory	duty	to	foster	good	relations	
between	different	groups	of	people,	coupled	with	a	responsibility	to	promote	equality	of	
opportunity.		In	2008,	WBC	introduced	a	policy	of	allowing	worshippers	at	Coign	Church,	Christ	
Church,	Trinity	Methodist	Church,	and	Woking	United	Reform	Church	to	park	free	of	charge	on	
Sunday	mornings	in	Victoria	Way	and	Brewery	Road	public	car	parks.		At	the	same	time,	
concessionary	Sunday	charging	arrangements	also	applied	in	respect	of	other	users	of	Woking	town	
centre	car	parks	on	a	Sunday.		The	practice	of	allowing	worshippers	attending	the	Town	Centre	
churches	to	park	free	on	a	Sunday	was	subject	to	a	challenge	under	the	terms	of	the	Equality	Act	
2010.			
	
1.2	 In	2012,	Skyers-Poorman	Research	and	Consulting	were	commissioned	by	Woking	Borough	
Council	to	undertake	a	full	and	independent	Equality	Impact	Assessment	(EqIA)	on	its	Sunday	car	
park	charging	practice.		An	EqIA	is	a	systematic	and	comprehensive	assessment	of	a	policy	or	practice	
through	the	prism	of	equality.		The	EqIA	therefore	assessed	the	positive,	negative	and/or	differential	
impacts	in	relation	to	the	following:		
	

a) The	impact	of	free	Sunday	parking	on	churchgoers		
b) The	cost	of	free	Sunday	parking	to	the	Council		
c) The	impact	of	free	Sunday	parking	on	the	wider	community		

	
1.3	 Following	completion	of	the	EqIA	in	2012,	the	Council	agreed	that	it	would	review	its	Sunday	
car	park	charging	practice	within	a	specified	four-year	timeframe.		The	Council	has	therefore	
appointed	Dr	Sophia	Skyers	(CIBS	IQ	Research)	to	review	and	update	the	2012	EqIA,	in	line	with	this.		
This	short	report	therefore	reviews	the	findings	of	the	2012	EqIA,	examines	whether	anything	has	
changed	since	the	EqIA	was	undertaken,	specifically,	the	nature	of	the	policy	and	the	context	within	
which	the	policy	operates.		This	report	also	examines	some	of	the	key	specific	actions	that	were	
contained	in	the	recommendations,	and	the	associated	action	plan	that	accompanied	the	2012	EqIA,	
as	there	were	some	issues	highlighted	in	relation	to	the	operation	of	the	practice	that	required	
further	examination.		The	2012	EqIA	should	therefore	be	read	in	conjunction	with	this	report	as	it	
sets	out	the	relevant	background,	religion	and	non-belief	groups	in	Woking,	and	provides	a	detailed	
assessment	of	the	potential	impact	of	the	policy	on	protected	groups	that	there	is	no	need	to	repeat	
in	this	report.	

	

2. Car	parking	charges	
2.1	 The	current	position	and	issues	arising	from	the	2012	EqIA:		The	policy	of	WBC	is	to	
review	its	discretionary	fees	and	charges	at	least	once	each	year	to	maximise	its	income	and	its	
annual	review	of	its	discretionary	fees	provides	detailed	information	on	this.		As	part	of	WBC’s	

Page 64



3	

	

review	of	parking	charges,	Sunday	parking	charges	were	introduced	in	the	Town	Centre	in	2003	and	
in	2008	as	part	of	a	two-staged	process.		The	policy	of	rescinding	Sunday	parking	charges	for	those	
attending	church	in	Woking	town	centre	was	introduced	as	a	reactive	practice	in	response	to	
representations	made	to	the	Council	by	church	attendees.		The	Sunday	parking	charge	is	capped	for	
non-churchgoers	and	is	therefore	concessionary	in	comparison	with	the	other	days	of	the	week.		
Since	the	2012	EqIA	was	undertaken,	WBC	has	not	made	any	changes	to	the	policy,	or	to	the	
practice,	and	there	are	none	anticipated	at	this	stage.		As	referred	to	briefly	above,	there	were	two	
specific	issues	highlighted	in	the	2012	EqIA,	and	the	associated	actin	plan.		The	first	issue	related	to	
the	operation	of	the	on	street	disabled	parking	bays,	and	the	second	issue	related	to	the	impact	of	
the	policy	on	protected	groups	whose	religious	observance	took	place	on	days	other	than	a	Sunday.		
	
2.2	 Disabled	on	street	parking	bays:		WBC	has	received	no	specific	correspondence	regarding	
the	issue	raised	in	the	2012	EqIA	regarding	the	potential	for	adverse	impact	relating	to	the	three	
hour	parking	limit	in	the	Town	Centre	disabled	bays.		In	practice,	the	three-hour	period	is	more	than	
sufficient	to	accommodate	attendance	at	Church	Services	on	a	Sunday.		Moreover,	the	turnover	of	
motorists	in	the	disabled	bays	effectively	means	that	more	disabled	motorists	have	the	opportunity	
to	use	the	parking	bays	that	are	located	in	prime	positions	in	and	around	the	Town	Centre.		This	
enhances	positive	impacts	for	this	group.	
	
2.3	 Days	of	religious	observance:		In	relation	to	the	issue	raised	in	the	2012	EqIA	concerning	
days	of	religious	observance	other	than	a	Sunday,	WBC	parking	services	team	to	provides	assistance	
to	faith	groups	as	well	as	individuals	outside	of	the	Town	Centre	where	it	is	appropriate	and	safe	to	
do	so.		This	assistance	spans	a	very	broad	spectrum,	and	it	ranges	for	example	from	local	parking	
discretion	following	bereavement,	to	much	wider	parking	discretions	that	have	been	agreed	
specifically	to	assist	worshippers	attending	Friday	prayers	at	local	mosques.		
	

3. Conclusion	
3.1	 Synthesis,	recommendations	and	Action	Plan:  This	updated	EqIA	has	found	that	there	
have	been	no	changes	to	the	policy	or	practice	of	allowing	Sunday	worshippers	to	park	for	free	in	
Woking	Town	Centre.		Therefore,	there	is	no	requirement	to	undertake	a	full	EqIA,	as	the	detailed	
assessment	of	potential	impact	in	the	2012	EqIA	is	current.		It	is	therefore	recommended	that:		
	

1. WBC	continue	with	the	practice	in	relation	to	Sunday	parking	charges	of	allowing	
worshippers	to	park	for	free	as	the	Council	has	determined	that	it	is	a	proportionate	
means	of	achieving	a	legitimate	aim,	and	having	had	proper	regard	to	all	of	the	issues	
raised	in	the	EqIA	and	this	updated	report.	

	
3.2	 The	relevant	part	of	the	action	plan	that	relates	to	continuing	with	the	current	practice,	and	
that	accompanied	the	2012	EqIA,	summarising	the	potential,	positive	and	negative	impact,	and	
mitigation	measures	in	relation	to	the	disabled	bays,	and	to	other	days	of	religious	observance	has	
been	updated	and	appended	to	this	report.	

	

Page 65



CIBS	IQ	Research	
 

Appendix D – EqIA Action Plan 
	

Equality	Impact	Assessment	on	Woking	Sunday	Car	Parking	
Action	Plan	–Update	November	2017	

	
Sunday	Charging	Policy	 Positive	Impact	 Potential	Negative	

Impact	
Mitigation	Measures	

1.	That	WBC	continue	with	
the	practice	of	allowing	
worshippers	to	park	free	as	
the	Council	has	determined	
that	it	is	a	‘proportionate	
means	of	achieving	a	
legitimate	aim’	and	having	
had	proper	regard	to	all	of	
the	issues	raised	in	the	
EqIA	and	the	update		
	

The	impact	on	the	entire	
community	has	been	
considered	in	relation	to	all	
of	the	protected	
characteristics	and	
protected	groups	within	
groups	and	has	informed	a	
more	carefully	nuanced	
practice	in	relation	to	free	
parking	for	worshippers.	
	
		

Potential	negative	impact	
for	religious	groups	whose	
religious	day	of	observance	
is	not	on	a	Sunday		
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
The	current	Sunday	
charging	practice	does	not	
encompass	on	street	
parking	for	disabled	people.	
The	three-hour	restriction	
in	the	bay	could	potentially	
impact	adversely	on	the	
ability	of	disabled	people	to	
attend	church	and	related	
church	activities	on	a	
Sunday.	

Assistance	is	given	to	enable	
attendance	at	Friday	prayers	
and	Mosques	in	the	borough		
	
The	Council	adopts	a	flexible	
approach	in	considering	
requests	on	a	case-by-case	
basis,	within	the	framework	
of	its	policy	on	parking	
charges.	
	
	
The	three-hour	parking	limit	
is	more	than	sufficient	to	
accommodate	attendance	at	
church	services	on	a	Sunday	
of	disabled	people	requiring	
use	of	the	Town	Centre	
disabled	bays.			
	
The	turnover	of	motorists	
who	require	use	of	parking	in	
the	disabled	bays	in	the	Town	
Centre,	as	a	result	of	the	
three-hour	limit	means	that	
more	disabled	motorists	have	
the	opportunity	to	use	
parking	bays	that	are	located	
in	prime	positions	in	Woking	
Town	Centre.		

	

	

Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125




	Agenda
	5. Notice of Motion - Cllr W P Forster - Support for Care Leavers
	7. Protocols of the Thameswey Group of Companies
	6a Appendix 1 - Amendments Highlighted
	6b Appendix 2 - Final Version
	6c Appendix 3 - Overview and Scrutiny Committee Minute Extract

	8. Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) Policy for Fly Tipping Offences
	9. Parking for the Faith Community and Community Groups
	8a Appendix 1- Policy Statement
	8b Appendix 2 - 2017 Review Report by Dr Skyers
	8c Appendix 3 - Previous Exec reports (18 July 2013, 31 May 2012, 13 October 2011)


